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Corporate Profile
Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited is one of the leading Information Technology (“IT”) services providers in
Asia involved in the design, delivery and operating of total IT solutions that meet customers’ business requirements.
The Group has built its business for more than a decade on a vision to deliver competitive advantages for enterprises
and government organizations to progress by optimizing their information systems efficiency. Founded in 1991, the
Group’s headquarters is based in Hong Kong with regional operations throughout Mainland China and Taiwan. Offices as
well as support and software development centers have also been established in major commercial regions of Mainland
China such as Beijing, Shanghai, Nanjing and Shenzhen.
C&T has a long-standing track record in delivering world-class innovative projects and implementing large-scale missioncritical IT solutions. Building on its successful track records, the Group has expanded into an all-rounded IT services
provider with a synergetic portfolio of subsidiaries.

Integration Services
Computer And Technologies Integration Limited
•

Provision of IT systems and network with related design,
implementation and on-going support services

Solutions Services
Computer And Technologies Solutions Limited
•

Provision of IT solutions with related consulting, implementation and
outsourcing services.

•

Provision of application software development services

Electronic Services
Global e-Business Services Limited
•

Provision of on-line e-Government and e-Business platforms and
related business process outsourcing services

•

Provision of the Electronic Tendering System and Government
Electronic Trading Services

Enterprise Application
IPL Research Limited
•

Provision of human resources management system and related
services

Distribution Business
Maxfair Technology Holdings Limited
•
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Distribution of digital audio/video related systems and software
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Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to report the audited financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2005.

For the reporting period, the Group’s consolidated revenue was HK$212.9 million (2004: HK$251.8 million) and the net
profit attributable to shareholders is HK$8.0 million (2004 restated: net loss of HK$13.5 million) revealing a significant
improvement in profitability.

The Group repurchased 5,696,000 shares at an average price of HK$0.826 per share during the period from
15 September to 7 November of 2005. The earnings per share for the year, with the effect of the share repurchase, was
amounted to 2.92 Hong Kong cents (2004 restated: loss of 4.91 Hong Kong cents).

During the year, the Group also managed to generate HK$85.5 million cash inflow from operations resulting from the
improvement of the overall profitability as well as the receipt of major milestone payments from customer contracts.

In view of the healthy financial position and cash on hand, the Board recommended to distribute a final dividend of 1
Hong Kong cent per share (2004: Nil). The Board also recommended a special dividend of 2 Hong Kong cents per
share (2004: Nil).

After several years of business transformation, the Group’s revenue has migrated from reliance on project based and
hardware oriented systems integration business to diversified sources of income with strong recurring nature. On top of
the established integration services business with increasing proportion of service revenue, the followings are the major
sources of the growing and recurring income:

•

Outsourcing service engagement with annual service fee from long-time customers and long-term contracts
(“Outsourcing Service”);

•

Software license fee and annual maintenance income from sales of the Group’s own branded software products
and related services (“Software and Maintenance”); and

•

Transaction-based and subscription-based income from provision of e-commerce services for Government and
commercial organizations (“e-Service”).

As of the reporting date, the Group has more than HK$310 million worth of signed contracts on hand of which a
significant portion is Outsourcing Service and Software and Maintenance related. On the other hand, the Group has built
up solid e-Service infrastructures and customer base, which has been contributing sizable recurring e-Service revenue to
the Group. Benefiting from the transformed business model, the Group’s financial performance is now becoming more
stable and predictable.
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Chairman’s Statement
The Group will continue to invest in research and development for introducing new software products to its existing
customer base, and value-added e-Services through its established e-Service infrastructures. In addition, the Group will
increase its marketing force in the e-Service offerings in order to attract more customers and obtain a larger market share.
Such investment will expand further the recurring revenue base of the Group and sustain the profitability enhancement
over time.

In general, the IT market remains competitive. To meet the competition, the Group will persist by continuously improving
its operation efficiency and strengthening its development and support resources in China to gain long-term competitive
advantage.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board and the Management, I would like to take this opportunity to thank for the support from the staff,
the shareholders and business partners to the Group.

Ng Cheung Shing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 April 2006
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Management Discussion and Analysis
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
For the reporting period, the Group’s overall gross profit was substantially increased to HK$78.9 million (2004: HK$63.5
million) despite the overall revenues dropped by 15.5% to HK$212.9 million which was primarily due to the completion
of the construction phases of two large scale solution outsourcing contracts. The increase in gross profit was mainly
attributed by the improvement in gross profit margin as well as the increased revenue contribution from the Application
Services which grew 57.8% to HK$48.5 million (2004: HK$30.8 million).

Following the Group’s direction in business transformation, the revenue nature of the integration services business had
been migrated from hardware oriented to increasing service oriented. Such migration had led to both the business
model and the revenue nature of the integration service and the solution services are alike. Therefore, for the purpose of
more meaningful presentation, the Group had decided to combine the Integration Services and the Solution Services
segments into Solutions & Integration Services segment effective from this reporting.

During the reporting period, the Group received strong repeat orders from existing customers such as Shanghai Stock
Exchange (“SSE”), China Eastern Airline, China Pacific Insurance, Shanghai Volkswagen, Shanghai Pudong Development
Bank as well as various departments of the Hong Kong SAR Government (“Hong Kong Government”). Besides, the
Group also managed to secure major contracts from new customers such as Yunnan Province Government in China and
receive additional orders from various departments of the Hong Kong Government, including the development of the
official website for the WTO Ministerial Conference (MC6) which was successfully held in Hong Kong last December.

The Group also entered into a partnership agreement with Shanghai Stocom Communication Co., Ltd. (“STOCOM”), a
subsidiary of SSE, to develop and co-market an integrated stock information broadcast and management platform
(“Platform”). Such Platform will be promoted by STOCOM to the SSE’s broker members. It is anticipated that the
progressive rollout of the Platform will gradually develop another stable source of income to the Group.

The Group’s e-Services business doubled its revenue contribution during the reporting period when compared with
2004. The results were mainly contributed by the steady development of the Group’s Government Electronic Trading
Services (“GETS”) and other related value-added services. Currently, the Group has more than 10,000 registered users
for its e-Service businesses. To further capture market share and enlarge income base, the Group has been launching a
series of promotional campaign on GETS and other e-Services to recruit additional customers and to create additional
revenue from existing customers. Furthermore, the Group is also actively exploring opportunities to expand its e-Service
offerings into the China market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Benefiting from the general growth of the economy and the increasing multinational corporation (“MNC”) establishments
in China, the Software and Maintenance income generated from the Group’s own branded Human Resource
Management Software (“HRMS”) continued to record satisfactory growth. After years of development, the Group’s HRMS
has become a popular choice of management application among large corporations with presence in both Hong Kong
and China. In particular, three of the Big Four international audit firms are users of the Group’s HRMS. Large
conglomerates such as the Jardine Matheson Group also selected the Group’s HRMS for their group subsidiaries. Last
but not least, the Group’s HRMS are also well received by large MNCs such as Sony and Philips.

The Group’s distribution business continued to be adversely impacted by the weak demands on its core product lines
related to the video capturing and editing products. The Management has expanded new product lines in video
surveillance and media player with emphasis on home entertainment sector to enlarge the revenue stream.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
As at 31 December 2005, the Group’s bank balances and cash (excluded pledged bank deposit of HK$8.0 million) was
HK$171.8 million or increased 75.1% compared with HK$98.1 million as of 31 December 2004..

Approximately 77.5% of the Group’s on hand funding is in Hong Kong or US currencies. The Group has not adopted any
hedging policies, as both currencies carry no or low exchange fluctuation risks.

During the reporting period, the Group has also fully repaid the interest-bearing bank borrowing of HK$15 million. As a
result, the gearing ratio, measured on the basis of total borrowings as a percentage of net assets, as at 31 December
2005 has been reduced to 0% whereas the ratio was 4.9% (as restated) as at 31 December 2004.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
The remuneration policies adopted for the 12 months period ended 31 December 2005 are consistent with those
disclosed in the Group’s 2004 Annual Report. As at 31 December 2005, the Group employed approximately 299 full
time and 34 contract-based employees (31 December 2004: 300 full time and 63 contract-based employees).
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Directors and Senior Management
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Cheung Shing, aged 44, the founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for the business
development, corporate strategies, company policies and overall management of the Group. Mr. Ng has over 20 years of
experience in IT industry. Before establishing the Company, Mr. Ng held senior positions in companies such as HewlettPackard Asia Pacific Ltd. and Sun Hung Kai (China) Ltd. He was a member of HKSAR Chief Executive Election Committee
(IT Subsector). He is also the Founding Chairman and currently an Honorable Chairman of the Hong Kong Information
and Software Industry Association, Chairman of Information Technology Sub-Committee of the Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong, Vice-Chairman of Information Technology Sub-Committee of the Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce, Member of Vocational Training Council (VTC) and Director of VTC School of Business & Information Systems,
Member of Digital 21 Strategy Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, Member of SME Development Fund
Vetting Committee of the HKSAR Government, Member of China Trade Counseling Committee of Hong Kong Trade
Development Council, Member of the Advisory Committee for the Department of Computing of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, Member of the Advisory Committee for the Department of Electronic Engineering of the City
University of Hong Kong, Member of Hunan and Fukien Overseas Friendship Association. Mr. Ng graduated from
University of Manchester in the United Kingdom with a bachelor’s degree in computer science (Hons) in 1984. He
received the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hongkong” from Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the “Ten Outstanding
Young Persons Award” from the Hong Kong Junior Chamber and the “Ten Outstanding Young Digi Persons”, “Hong Kong
Top Ten Business Maker Award” from the Hong Kong Productivity Council and “Honorary Fellow” of The Professional
Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries. Mr. Ng is also an independent non-executive director of Baltrans Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 562), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Leung King San, Sunny, aged 45, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr. Leung joined the Group in 1997.
He has over 20 years of experience in finance, administration and planning in the IT industry. Before joining the Group,
Mr. Leung held senior management positions in IBM and its associated company in Asia Pacific. Mr. Leung graduated
from Simon Fraser University in Canada with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in 1983.

Mr. Ma Mok Hoi, Tony, aged 49, joined the Group in 1994, is in charge of the Group’s Distribution Business. Mr. Ma
has over 20 years of experience in distribution and customer service businesses in the IT field. He graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic with a higher diploma and an associateship in electronic engineering in 1980 and 1981
respectively. He also obtained a diploma in management studies from the Hong Kong Management Association in 1989.
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Directors and Senior Management
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ha Shu Tong,, aged 57, joined the Board in 1998. Mr. Ha has involved in the financial industry for over 30 years
and has substantial experience in corporate finance and corporate development. He is an executive director of Capital
Consultant Limited, a financial consultancy company in Hong Kong.

Professor Matthew K. O. Lee, Ph.D., aged 46, joined the Board in 1998. Professor Lee is the Associate Dean
(Research and Graduate Programmes) of the Faculty of Business and a Professor of Information Systems at the City
University of Hong Kong (the “University”). Professor Lee was previously Head of Information Systems Department and
Founding Director of the MA E-Business programme at the University. He holds a number of university degrees including
BEng (1st Class Honours) in electronic engineering, MSc in software engineering, Ph.D. in computer science, MBA, LLB,
and LLM in Corporate and Commercial Law. Professor Lee has substantial experience and published widely in law and IT
matters and is a professional member of both the Hong Kong Computer Society and the British Computer Society. He is
qualified as a Chartered Engineer (UK Engineering Council) and a Barrister-at- Law both in Hong Kong SAR and England
& Wales. Professor Lee was a Founding Vice-chairman of the Hong Kong Computer Society e-Business Special Interest
Group. He is an Assessor for the Innovation and Technology Support Programme of the HKSAR Government’s Innovation
and Technology Fund. He is also a member of the Public Affairs Forum appointed by the Secretary for Home Affairs of
HKSAR.

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen, MH, FCCA, FCPA (Practising), ACA, FTIHK, FHKIoD, aged 52, is an accountant in public
practice as managing partner of Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public Accountants since 1987. Mr. Ting is a
member of the 9th Chinese People Political & Consultative Conference, Fujian. He is now a non-executive director of
Chow Sang Sang Holdings International Limited (Stock Code: 116) and holds independent non-executive directorship in
six other listed companies namely, Tongda Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 698), eForce Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 934), Minmetals Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1208), Tong Ren Tang Technologies Company Limited (Stock
Code: 8069), MACRO-LINK International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 472) and Texhong Textile Group Limited (Stock
Code: 2678).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Cheung Siu Yiu, Edwind, aged 31, is the Financial Controller of the Group and the Secretary of the Company. He
has over 8 years of experience in finance, auditing and business advisory. Before joining the Group in 2004, he was a
manager of assurance and advisory business services department of Ernst & Young Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Cheung graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor’s degree in business administration (Hons). He
is a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and is also a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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Mr. Lam Man Wah, Vinton, aged 45, is the Managing Consultant of IPL Research Limited (“IPL”). Mr. Lam has over 20
years of experience in IT industry and software development. He had extensive experiences in working for multi-national
enterprises in Europe and Asia Pacific before he established IPL as one of the founders in 1989. Mr. Lam joined the
Group in 2001 when IPL became a subsidiary of the Group. He has dedicated its career in developing and implementing
enterpriseclass human resource management and related information systems. He graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic in Mathematics and Computing and has obtained a MBA degree from the University of Western Sydney. He
is a professional member of the British Computer Society and is qualified as a Chartered IT Professional.

Mr. Tam Chin Pang, Stephen, aged 42, is in charge of the Group’s Solutions Services division, has over 20 years of
experience in IT and consulting business ranging from software development to enterprise solutions implementation.
Before joining the group in 1998, he was the Practice Director for SPL WorldGroup delivering large-scale software
solutions to clients worldwide. Mr. Tam studied in Canada as well as Australia and graduated from the University of New
South Wales with a bachelor’s degree in computer science and a master’s degree in commerce. He has worked
extensively in North America and Southeast Asia before returning to Hong Kong in 1992.

Mr. Wang Zhi Hui, aged 42, is the Senior Director of C&T Integration Limited. Mr. Wang joined the
Group in 1996. He has over 16 years of experience in the IT industry with extensive sales management exposure in
working for multinational companies such as HP China and WANG Computer. Mr. Wang graduated from the East China
University of Science and Technology with bachelor degree of electronic engineering in 1986.

Mr. Yan King Shun, Peter, aged 44, is in charge of the Group’s Application Services division, has over 20 years of
experience in the IT industry. Before joining the Group in 2000, Mr. Yan was the Chief Operating Officer of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Ltd. He also held senior management positions in large IT and electronic services companies
including Accenture. Mr. Yan graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration in 1985 and received executive education for global leadership from the Harvard Business School in
1998. Mr. Yan is also the Vice President (Professional Development) of the Hong Kong Computer Society.

Mr. Yeung Sai Cheong, Steve, aged 40, is the Vice President of Corporate Development and Communications of the
Group responsible for investor relationship and business development including merger and acquisition activities, and
other corporate communications. Joined the Group in 1998, Mr. Yeung has 17 years of IT experience in sales and
business development in multinational companies. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s
degree in computer studies in 1988 and received a master’s degree in business administration from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 1999. Mr. Yeung is also a Vice-Chairman (General Affairs) of the Hong Kong
Information and Software Industry Association.
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Corporate Governance Report
The Board opined that the Company has complied with the code provision set out in the Code of Corporate Governance
Practice (the “CG Code”) as stipulated in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities On The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) during the reporting year except on the deviations noted below.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Currently, the Company does not have a separate Chairman and Chief Executive and
Mr. Ng Cheung Shing, the founder of the Group, holds both positions. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive in the same individual provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows
for more effective and efficient planning and execution of long-term business strategies.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to reelection. Independent non-executive directors of the Company do not have a specific term of appointment but are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the provisions of the bye-laws of the Company. The Company
therefore considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that its corporate governance practices are similar
to those provided in the CG Code and is currently taking measures to revise the terms of appointment of all the nonexecutive directors to better comply with the CG Code.

THE BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board comprises three executive directors and three independent non-executive directors:

Executive directors:
Ng Cheung Shing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Leung King San, Sunny
Ma Mok Hoi

Independent non-executive directors
Ha Shu Tong
Lee Kwok On, Matthew
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

One-third of the directors shall retire from office at every annual general meeting and all directors (including nonexecutive directors) are subject to retirement by rotation once every three year in accordance with the Company’s byelaws and the CG Code.
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The directors’ biographical information is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” section on
pages 8 to 10.

PRINCIPAL FUNCTIONS
The Board has the ultimate decision on the Group’s overall strategy, annual budget, annual and interim results,
appointment or retirement of directors, significant contracts and transactions as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The Board has delegated the daily operations and administration to the Company’s management.

Every director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. In addition, every director has separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management to facilitate them to make informed decisions. All directors, in the discharge of their duties, are allowed to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

In order to achieve a high standard of corporate governance, the Board held four regularly meetings at approximately
quarterly interval and two additional meetings during the year 2005 to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group. Attendance of each director at the Board meetings is set out below:

Number of Board meetings
Attended/Eligible to attend
Executive directors:
Ng Cheung Shing

6/6

Leung King San, Sunny

6/6

Ma Mok Hoi

6/6

Independent non-executive directors:
Ha Shu Tong

5/6

Lee Kwok On, Matthew

6/6

Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

6/6

BOARD COMMITTEES
To strengthen the functions of the Board, there are three Board Committees namely, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee formed under the Board, with each performing different
functions.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 September 2004 and comprises of three independent nonexecutive directors, namely, Ha Shu Tong, Lee Kwok On, Matthew, and Ting Leung Huel, Stephen and two executive
directors namely, Ng Cheung Shing and Leung King San, Sunny. Currently, Mr. Ha is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary function of the Remuneration Committee include:

•

to review and recommend to the Board, in consultation the chairman and chief executive officer, the remuneration
policy and packages of the directors and senior management;

•

to review and recommend the performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time;

•

to review and recommend the compensation payable to executive directors and senior management in connection
with any loss of termination of their office or appointment;

•

to review and recommend compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of directors for
misconduct; and

•

to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year. Two meetings were convened during the year and all
the committee members attended.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee was established on 24 April 1999 and during the reporting period, the three independent nonexecutive directors, namely, Ha Shu Tong, Lee Kwok On, Matthew, and Ting Leung Huel, Stephen are the members of
the committee and Mr. Ting is currently the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal duties and roles of the Audit Committee include:

•

to consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation of dismissal of that auditors;
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•

to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence and objectivity;

•

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of external auditors to supply non-audit services;

•

to review the financial information of the Group, which includes, annual report and interim report;

•

to review the Group’s financial controls, internal controls and risk management systems; and

•

to review the external auditors’ management letters and management’s response.

During the year, the Audit Committee meets two times and all the members of Audit Committee attended both
meetings.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee was established on 22 September 2004 and comprises of the three independent nonexecutive directors, namely, Ha Shu Tong, Lee Kwok On, Matthew, and Ting Leung Huel, Stephen and two executive
directors namely, Ng Cheung Shing and Leung King San, Sunny. Currently, Mr. Ha is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include:

•

to develop and maintain a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of members of
the Board;

•

to recommend the appointment and re-appointment of directors; and

•

to review the independence of each director, and to ensure that the Board comprises at least one-third
independent directors.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once every year. One meeting was convened during the year and all the
committee members attended.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s independent auditors amounted HK$1,128,000 in
respect of audit services. There have been no non-audit services rendered by the Company’s independent auditors
during the year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the directors. Based on a specific enquiry of the Company’s directors, the
directors have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

To comply with CG Code A.5.4, the Company has also adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for dealings in
securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be
likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its securities.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDER
Information of the Company and the Group are delivered to its shareholders through a number of channels, which
includes annual report, interim report, announcements and circulars. The latest information of the Company and the
Group together with the published documents are also available for on the Company’s website.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group and have adopted the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and complied with the requirements of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditors are set out in the Report of Auditors on page 25.
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Report of the Directors
The directors herein present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2005.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. There were no changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2005 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 26 to 102.

The directors recommend the payment of final and special dividends of 1 Hong Kong cent and 2 Hong Kong cents,
respectively, in respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 104.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further details of the Group’s investment properties
are set out on page 103.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the Company during the year are set out in notes 31 and
32 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, which would obliged the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and these shares were subsequently cancelled by the Company. The share repurchase has enhanced
the net asset value per share and the earnings per share, which the directors believe is in the best interests of the
Company and the shareholders. Further details of these transactions are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 33(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 December 2005, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to HK$58,311,000. In addition, the Company’s share premium account,
in the amount of HK$237,310,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 38.0% of the total sales for the year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 13.6%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 58.9% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest suppliers included therein
amounted to 40.5%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Ng Cheung Shing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Leung King San, Sunny
Ma Mok Hoi

Independent non-executive directors:
Ha Shu Tong
Lee Kwok On, Matthew
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s bye-laws, Ng Cheung Shing and Ha Shu Tong will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The independent non-executive directors have not been appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Ha Shu Tong, Lee Kwok On, Matthew, and Ting
Leung Huel, Stephen, and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 8 to
10 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the Company since 1 April 1998. These service
contracts will continue until terminated by either party by serving to the other party a written notice of not less than three
months prior to the effective date of termination. As of the date of this report, no termination notice by either party had
been received.

Apart from the foregoing, no directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2005, the interests of the directors in the share capital and underlying shares of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Number of shares held,

Percentage

capacity and nature of interest

of the

Directly

Through

Company’s

beneficially

controlled

issued

owned

corporation

Total

share capital

2,032,000

110,000,000

112,032,000

41.57

Leung King San, Sunny

810,000

–

810,000

0.30

Ma Mok Hoi

209,000

–

209,000

0.08

3,051,000

110,000,000

113,051,000

41.95

Name of director
Ng Cheung Shing

Note
(a)

The interests of the directors in the share options of the Company are separately disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(continued)
Long positions in shares of associated corporations:

Number of shares

Name of

Relationship

Percentage

and capacity

of the

and nature of

associated

Directly

Through

corporation’s

Name of

associated

with the

Class of

beneficially

controlled

issued

director

corporation

Company

shares

owned

corporation

shares capital

Ng Cheung Shing

Computer And

Company’s

Non-voting

1,750,000

3,250,000

N/A

Technologies

subsidiary

deferred

Maxfair Technology

Company’s

Ordinary

Holdings Limited

subsidiary

(note b)

International
Limited

Ma Mok Hoi

25

–

25

Notes:
(a)

The 110,000,000 shares were held by Chao Lien Technologies Limited (“Chao Lien”). Mr. Ng Cheung Shing was entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of C.S. (BVI) Limited which, in turn,
was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of Chao Lien.
Accordingly, Mr. Ng Cheung Shing was deemed, under the SFO, to be interested in all shares held by Chao Lien.

(b)

The 3,250,000 non-voting deferred shares were held by Chao Lien.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2005, none of the directors had registered an interest or short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Apart from the share option scheme disclosures in note 32 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2005, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital and share options of the
Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO:

Long positions:

Percentage
of the

Name of shareholder
of the Company
Chao Lien Technologies Limited

Notes
(a)

Capacity

Number of

Company’s

Number

and nature

ordinary

issued

of share

of interest

shares held

share capital

options held

Directly

110,000,000

40.8

–

110,000,000

40.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

beneficially
owned

C.S. (BVI) Limited

(a)

Through a
controlled
corporation

Puttney Investments Limited (“PIL”)

(b)

Directly
beneficially
owned

Hutchison International Limited (“HIL”)

(b)

Through a
controlled
corporation

Hutchison Whampoa Limited (“HWL”)

(b)

Through a
controlled
corporation

Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited
(“CKH”)

(b), (c)

Through a
controlled
corporation
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)
Percentage
of the

Name of shareholder
of the Company
Li Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Company

Notes
(b), (c)

Limited (“TUT1”)

Capacity

Number of

Company’s

Number

and nature

ordinary

issued

of share

of interest

shares held

share capital

options held

Through a

29,148,938

10.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

29,148,938

10.8

–

26,782,000

9.9

–

controlled
corporation

Li Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Corporation (b), (c)
Limited (“TDT1”)

Through a
controlled
corporation

Li Ka-Shing Unity Trustcorp Limited

(b), (c)

(“TDT2”)

Through a
controlled
corporation

Li Ka-Shing

(b), (c)

Through a
controlled
corporation

Hui Yau Man

Directly
beneficially
owned

Notes:
(a)

The interest was also disclosed as an interest of Mr. Ng Cheung Shing in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” of this report.

(b)

PIL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HIL, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HWL. By virtue of the SFO, HWL and HIL
were deemed to be interested in the 29,148,938 shares of the Company held by PIL.

(c)

Li Ka-Shing Unity Holdings Limited (“TUHL”), of which each of Li Ka-Shing, Li Tzar Kuoi, Victor, and Li Tzar Kai, Richard, is
interested in one-third of the entire issued share capital, owns the entire issued share capital of TUT1. TUT1 as trustee of The Li
Ka-Shing Unity Trust, together with certain companies which TUT1 as trustee of The Li Ka-Shing Unity Trust is entitled to exercise
or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power at their general meetings, hold more than one-third of the
issued share capital of CKH. Subsidiaries of CKH are entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the
voting power at the general meetings of HWL.
In addition, TUHL also owns the entire issued share capital of TDT1 as trustee of The Li Ka-Shing Unity Discretionary Trust (“DT1”)
and TDT2 as trustee of another discretionary trust (“DT2”). Each of TDT1 and TDT2 holds units in The Li Ka-Shing Unity Trust.
By virtue of the SFO, each of Li Ka-Shing, being the settlor and being regarded as a founder of DT1 and DT2, TDT1, TDT2, TUT1
and CKH were deemed to be interested in the 29,148,938 shares of the Company held by PIL.

23

COMPUTER AND TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2005

Report of the Directors
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2005, no person, other than the directors of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25%
of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ng Cheung Shing
Chairman

Hong Kong
20 April 2006
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To the members
Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the financial statements on pages 26 to 102 which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. In
preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those
financial statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made
by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the Company’s and the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2005 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
20 April 2006

25

COMPUTER AND TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2005

Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 December 2005

Notes

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

5

212,874

251,800

Cost of sales

(133,988)

(188,257)

Gross profit

78,886

63,543

8,281
(36,229)
(40,747)
(2,469)
(17)

7,430
(40,724)
(40,644)
(3,671)
(875)

REVENUE

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses
Other expenses
Finance costs

5

9

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

6

7,705

Tax

10

(232)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

DIVIDENDS
Proposed final
Proposed special

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic
Diluted

26

11

(14,941)
1,460

7,473

(13,481)

8,011
(538)

(13,520)
39

7,473

(13,481)

12
2,695
5,390

–
–

8,085

–

2.92 cents

(4.91) cents

N/A

N/A
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2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

16,249
17,820
23,790
7,868
1,265
750
2,000

20,849
16,297
23,790
9,275
1,265
1,000
1,050

69,742

73,526

3,900
20,631
21,392
68,865
9,513
5,008
8,012
171,788

–
11,856
56,922
123,826
5,055
–
23,836
98,050

309,109

319,545

(39,816)
(4,818)
(2,649)
–
(1,004)

(43,380)
(4,261)
(2,649)
(15,000)
(258)

Total current liabilities

(48,287)

(65,548)

NET CURRENT ASSETS

260,822

253,997

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

330,564

327,523

(23,400)

(23,400)

307,164

304,123

Notes

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Held-to-maturity securities
Available-for-sale investment/investment security
Deferred tax assets

14
15
16
17
19
20
30

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Held-to-maturity securities
Inventories
Trade receivables
Due from contract customers
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

19
21
22
23
24
25
25

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables, other payables and accruals
Deferred income
Due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Tax payable

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other financial liabilities
Net assets

26
27
28

29
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EQUITY
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital
Reserves
Proposed final and special dividends

Notes

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

31
33(a)
12

26,950
271,059
8,085

27,520
274,994
–

306,094

302,514

1,070

1,609

307,164

304,123

Minority interests
Total equity

Leung King San, Sunny
Director
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued
share
Notes

Share
premium Contributed

capital

account

HK$’000

HK$’000

Share

Exchange

option

Goodwill fluctuation

surplus

reserve

HK$’000

HK$’000

(note 33(a))
At 1 January 2004

Minority

Total

reserve

reserve

Retained
profits

Total

interests

equity

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

14,738

315,013

1,542

316,555

(note 33(a))

27,485

237,077

45,483

–

(7,227)

(2,543)

–

–

–

–

–

(84)

(84)

28

(56)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(13,520)

(13,520)

39

(13,481)

(13,520)

(13,604 )

67

(13,537)

Exchange realignment and total
expense for the year recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year (as restated)

–

Total income and expense
for the year (as restated)
Issue of shares

31

–

–

–

–

–

(84)

35

233

–

–

–

–

–

268

–

268

–

–

–

837

–

–

–

837

–

837

1,218*

302,514

1,609

304,123

Equity-settled share option
arrangement
At 31 December 2004

27,520

237,310*

45,483*

837*

(7,227)*

(2,627 )*
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Availablefor-sale
Issued
share
Notes

Share

Share

premium Contributed

capital

account

HK$’000

HK$’000

option

surplus

reserve

HK$’000

HK$’000

(note 33(a))

investment

Exchange

Goodwill revaluation fluctuation

Retained

Proposed

Minority

Total

reserve

reserve

reserve

profits

dividends

Total

interests

equity

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

19,060

–

319,519

8,004

327,523

(17,842 )

–

(17,005 )

(6,395 )

(23,400 )

–

–

(250 )

1,218

–

(note 33(a))

At 1 January 2005
As previously reported

27,520

237,310

45,483

–

Prior year adjustments

2.4

–

–

–

837

–

–

–

Opening adjustment

2.4

–

–

–

–

–

(250 )

–

27,520

237,310

45,483

837

As restated

(7,227 )

(7,227 )

–

(2,627 )

(250 )

(2,627 )

302,264

–
1,609

(250 )
303,873

Exchange realignment and
total expense for the year
recognised directly in equity
Net profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

–

216

–

–

216

(1 )

215

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

8,011

–

8,011

(538 )

7,473

–

–

–

–

216

8,011

–

8,227

(539 )

7,688

–

–

–

–

–

–

(4,704 )

–

(4,704 )

–

–

307

–

307

(8,085 )

8,085

–

–

–

1,144 *

8,085

306,094

1,070

307,164

Total income and expense
for the year
Repurchase of shares

31

–

–

(570 )

–

–

–

–

307

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

26,950

237,310*

(4,134 )

Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Proposed final and special dividends
At 31 December 2005

*

30

12

41,349 *

1,144 *

(7,227)*

(250)*

(2,411)*

These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated reserves of HK$271,059,000 (2004: HK$274,994,000) in the consolidated
balance sheet.
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Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Exchange gains, net
Dividend income from listed investments
Gain on disposal of listed investments
Fair value gains on investment properties
Fair value losses, net:
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of deferred development costs
Amortisation of goodwill
Finance costs
Equity-settled share option expenses

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

7,705

(14,941)

5
5
5

(3,763)
–
(85)
(365)
(1,523)

(1,791)
(238)
–
(138)
(1,958)

6
6
6
6
6
9
32

123
6,131
106
2,807
–
17
307

–
8,735
14
2,319
3,672
875
837

5

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes
Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease in amounts due from contract customers
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Decrease in trade payables, other payables and accruals
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income
Increase in amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries

11,460
(8,775)
35,530
54,961
(4,458)
(3,354)
557
–

(2,614)
(5,596)
(35,895)
41,069
734
(30,409)
(255)
417

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas taxes paid

85,921
(17)
(345)
(91)

(32,549)
(875)
(215)
(116)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

85,468

(33,755)
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Notes

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

85,468

(33,755)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Dividend received from listed investments
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of listed investments
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities
Proceeds on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of listed investments
Held-to-maturity securities settled
Additions to deferred development costs
Decrease in pledged bank deposits

3,763
85
(1,603)
(19,676)
(3,900)
–
14,910
–
(1,400)
15,824

1,791
–
(3,932)
(3,000)
–
369
3,138
8,860
(814)
17,133

8,003

23,545

–
(4,704)
–
–
(15,000)

268
–
23,400
28,000
(48,000)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

(19,704)

3,668

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

73,767
98,050
(29)

14

17

Net cash inflow from investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Repurchase of shares
Increase in other financial liabilities
New bank loans
Repayment of bank loans

31
31
29

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity
of less than three months when acquired

32

2005
HK$’000

(6,542)
104,441
151

171,788

98,050

25

28,993

65,707

25

142,795

32,343

171,788

98,050
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Notes

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries

18

322,113

307,694

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

25

282
1,350

73
1,203

1,632

1,276

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

26

NET CURRENT ASSETS
Net assets
EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Proposed final and special dividends

31
33(b)
12

Total equity

Leung King San, Sunny
Director

(30)

(10)

1,602

1,266

323,715

308,960

26,950
288,680
8,085

27,520
281,440
–

323,715

308,960

Ng Cheung Shing
Director
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at 30th Floor, MLC Millennia Plaza, 663 King’s Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.
During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal activities:
•
•
•
•
•

trading of computer hardware, software and related accessories;
provision of system and network platform with integration services;
provision of IT solutions, e-business and related services;
provision of software application packages with implementation, consultancy, training and maintenance
services; and
property and treasury investments.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and an available-for-sale investment, which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2005. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being
the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.
The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the assets acquired, and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders in the results and net assets of the Company’s
subsidiaries.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The following new and revised HKFRSs affect the Group and are adopted for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements:
HKAS 1
HKAS 2
HKAS 7
HKAS 8
HKAS 10
HKAS 11
HKAS 12
HKAS 14
HKAS 16
HKAS 17
HKAS 18
HKAS 19
HKAS 21
HKAS 23
HKAS 24
HKAS 27
HKAS 32
HKAS 33
HKAS 36
HKAS 37
HKAS 38
HKAS 39
HKAS 39 Amendment
HKAS 40
HKFRS 2
HKFRS 3
HKAS-Int 21
HK-Int 4

Presentation of Financial Statements
Inventories
Cash Flow Statements
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Construction Contracts
Income Taxes
Segment Reporting
Property, Plant and Equipment
Leases
Revenue
Employee Benefits
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Borrowing Costs
Related Party Disclosures
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
Earnings per Share
Impairment of Assets
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Intangible Assets
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Investment Property
Share-based Payment
Business Combinations
Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-depreciable Assets
Leases – Determination of the Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong
Land Leases

The adoption of HKASs 2, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 23, 27, 33, 37, 38, HKAS-Int 21 and HK-Int 4 has
had no material impact on the accounting policies of the Group and the Company and the methods of
computation in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.
HKAS 1 has affected the presentation of minority interests on the face of the consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and other disclosures.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)
HKAS 17 has specific provisions regarding the classification of the land and buildings elements of a lease of land
and buildings.
In prior years, the Group classified its entire interests in leasehold land and buildings held under operating leases
as property, plant and equipment, without considering the land and building elements separately for the purposes
of lease classification.
Upon the adoption of HKAS 17, the land and buildings elements of the Group’s leasehold interests in land and
buildings are considered separately for the purposes of lease classification. As permitted by HKAS 17, as the
Group’s prepaid land lease payments under operating leases cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease.
HKAS 17 has had no material impact for these financial statements on the amount recorded for leasehold land
and buildings.
HKAS 24 has expanded the definition of related parties and affected the Group’s related party disclosures.
The impact of adopting the other HKFRSs is summarised as follows:

(a) HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 – Financial Instruments
(i)

Equity securities
In prior years, the Group classified its investments in securities as investment securities, which were
held for non-trading purposes and were stated at cost less any impairment losses, on an individual
investment basis. Upon the adoption of HKAS 39, the investment security held by the Group at 1
January 2005 in the amount of HK$1,000,000 is designated as an available-for-sale investment under
the transitional provisions of HKAS 39 and accordingly is stated at its fair value at that date with gains
or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until subsequent derecognition or
impairment.
The effects of the above changes are summarised in note 2.4 to the financial statements. In
accordance with the transitional provisions of HKAS 39, comparative amounts have not been restated.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)
(a) HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 – Financial Instruments (continued)
(ii)

Contractual obligations
In prior years, contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial assets or a variable number of
the Company’s/one of its subsidiaries’ equity instruments upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of
certain future events or if certain future conditions were not met, such as those set out in note 29 to
the financial statements, were not recognised as a financial liability.
Upon the adoption of HKAS 32, such obligations are recognised as a financial liability. The effects of
the above changes are summarised in note 2.4 to the financial statements. In accordance with HKAS
32, comparative amounts have been restated.

(b) HKAS 40 – Investment Property
In prior years, changes in the fair values of investment properties were dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve was insufficient to cover a deficit, on a portfolio basis, the
excess of the deficit was charged to the income statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus was credited
to the income statement to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
Upon the adoption of HKAS 40, gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which they arise. As the Group did not have
any asset revaluation reserve as at 1 January 2004 and 2005, the adoption of HKAS 40 has had no impact
on the opening balances of retained profits and the results for the comparative period.

(c) HKFRS 2 – Share-based Payment
In prior years, no recognition and measurement of share-based payment transactions in which employees
(including directors) were granted share options over shares in the Company were required until such
options were exercised by employees, at which time the share capital and share premium were credited
with the proceeds received.
Upon the adoption of HKFRS 2, when employees (including directors) render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”), the cost of the equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which the instruments are granted.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)
(c) HKFRS 2 – Share-based Payment (continued)
The main impact of HKFRS 2 on the Group is the recognition of the cost of these transactions and a
corresponding entry to equity for employee share options. The revised accounting policy for share-based
payment transactions is described in more detail in note 2.5 “Summary of significant accounting policies”
below.
The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 under which the new measurement policies
have not been applied to (i) options granted to employees on or before 7 November 2002; and (ii) options
granted to employees after 7 November 2002 but which had vested before 1 January 2005.
The effects of adopting HKFRS 2 on the Group’s share options granted to employees after 7 November
2002 but had not vested before 1 January 2005 are summarised in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
Comparative amounts have been restated in accordance with HKFRS 2.

(d) HKFRS 3 – Business Combinations and HKAS 36 – Impairment of Assets
In prior years, goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 2001 was eliminated against the
consolidated reserves in the year of acquisition and was not recognised in the income statement until
disposal or impairment of the acquired business. Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1 January 2001
was capitalised and amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life and was subject to
impairment testing when there was any indication of impairment.
In prior years, negative goodwill was carried in the balance sheet and was recognised in the consolidated
income statement on a systematic basis over the remaining average useful life of the acquired depreciable/
amortisable assets, except to the extent that it related to expectations of future losses and expenses that
were identified in the acquisition plan and that can be measured reliably, but which did not represent
identifiable liabilities as at the date of acquisition, in which case, it was recognised as income in the
consolidated income statement when the future losses and expenses were recognised.
The adoption of HKFRS 3 and HKAS 36 has resulted in the Group ceasing annual goodwill amortisation and
commencing testing for impairment at the cash-generating unit level annually (or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired).
Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of the acquisition of subsidiaries (previously referred to as negative
goodwill), after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)
(d) HKFRS 3 – Business Combinations and HKAS 36 – Impairment of Assets
(continued)
The transitional provisions of HKFRS 3 have required the Group to eliminate at 1 January 2005 the carrying
amounts of accumulated amortisation with a corresponding adjustment to the cost of goodwill. Goodwill
previously eliminated against the consolidated reserves remains eliminated against the consolidated reserves
and is not recognised in the income statement when all or part of the business to which the goodwill relates
is disposed of or when a cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.
The effects of the above changes are summarised in note 2.4 to the financial statements. In accordance with
the transitional provisions of HKFRS 3, comparative amounts have not been restated.

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, herein collectively referred to as the new
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. Unless otherwise stated,
these HKFRSs are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006:
HKAS 1 Amendment
HKAS 19 Amendment
HKAS 21 Amendment
HKAS 39 Amendment
HKAS 39 Amendment
HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4
Amendments
HKFRSs 1 & 6 Amendments
HKFRS 6
HKFRS 7
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
HK(IFRIC)-Int 5
HK(IFRIC)-Int 6
HK(IFRIC)-Int 7

Capital Disclosures
Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures
Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions
The Fair Value Option
Financial Guarantee Contracts
First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste
Electrical and Electronic Equipment
Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)
The HKAS 1 Amendment shall be applied for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The
revised standard will affect the disclosures about qualitative information about the Group’s objective, policies and
processes for managing capital; quantitative data about what the Company regards as capital; and compliance with
any capital requirements and the consequences of any non-compliance.
HKFRS 7 incorporates the disclosure requirements of HKAS 32 relating to financial instruments. This HKFRS shall
be applied for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
In accordance with the amendments to HKAS 39 regarding financial guarantee contracts, financial guarantee
contracts are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at the higher of (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 and (ii) the amount initially recognised, less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18.
The HKAS 19 Amendment, HKAS 39 Amendment regarding cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup
transactions, HKFRSs 1 and 6 Amendments, HKFRS 6, HK(IFRIC)-Int 5 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 6 do not apply to the
activities of the Group. HK(IFRIC)-Int 6 shall be applied for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 December
2005.
The Group has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2005. The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a
position to state whether these new HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its results of operations and
financial position.
Except as stated above, the Group expects that the adoption of the other pronouncements listed above will not
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Effect on the consolidated balance sheet
At 1 January 2005

HKAS 1

Effect of new policies
(Increase/(decrease))

Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Available-for-sale investment
Investment security

#

Presentation
HK$’000

(16,297)
16,297
–
–

Effect of adopting
HKASs 32#
HKAS 32#
and 39*
Change in
classification
of equity
investments
HK$’000

–
–
750
(1,000)

HKFRS 2#

Equity-settled
Contractual share option
obligations arrangements
HK$’000
HK$’000

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Total
HK$’000

(16,297)
16,297
750
(1,000)
(250)

Liabilities/equity
Other financial liabilities
Available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve
Share option reserve
Retained profits
Minority interests

–
–
–
–
–

–
(250)
–
–
–

23,400
–
–
(17,005)
(6,395)

–
–
837
(837)
–

23,400
(250)
837
(17,842)
(6,395)
(250)

*
#

Adjustments taken effect prospectively from 1 January 2005
Adjustments/presentation taken effect retrospectively
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2.4 SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(a) Effect on the consolidated balance sheet (continued)
At 31 December 2005

HKAS 1

Effect of new policies
(Increase/(decrease))

#

Presentation
HK$’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Available-for-sale investment
Investment security

(17,820)
17,820
–
–

Effect of adopting
HKASs 32#
HKAS 32#
and 39*
Change in
classification
of equity
investments
HK$’000

–
–
750
(1,000)

HKFRS 2#

Equity-settled
Contractual share option
obligations arrangements
HK$’000
HK$’000

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Total
HK$’000

(17,820)
17,820
750
(1,000)
(250)

Liabilities/equity
Other financial liabilities
Available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve
Share option reserve
Retained profits
Minority interests

–
–
–
–
–

–
(250)
–
–
–

23,400
–
–
(18,090)
(5,310)

–
–
1,144
(1,144)
–

23,400
(250)
1,144
(19,234)
(5,310)
(250)

Effect of adopting HKFRS 3
Had the amortisation of goodwill been made for the year ended 31 December 2005 and included in these
financial statements, the goodwill and retained profits of the Group at 31 December 2005 would have been
reduced by HK$3,672,000.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Effect on the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December
2005 and 2004

HKFRS 2

Effect of new policies
Year ended 31 December 2005
Increase in general and
administrative expenses
Decrease in other expenses
Decrease in minority interests’
share of losses
Total increase/(decrease)
in profit
Increase/(decrease) in basic
earnings per share

Employee
share option
scheme
HK$’000

( 307)
–
–

( 307)

(0.11) cent

Effect of adopting
HKAS 32

HKFRS 3

Discontinuation
Contractual of amortisation
obligations
of goodwill
HK$’000
HK$’000

–
–

Total
HK$’000

–
3,672

(307)
3,672

(1,085)

–

(1,085)

(1,085)

3,672

2,280

1.34 cents

0.83 cent

(0.40) cent
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2.4 SUMMARY OF THE IMPACT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Effect on the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December
2005 and 2004 (continued)

HKFRS 2

Effect of new policies
Year ended 31 December 2004
Decrease in gain on deemed
disposal of subsidiaries
Increase in general and
administrative expenses
Decrease in minority interests’
share of losses
Total decrease in profit

Increase in basic loss per share
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Employee
share option
scheme
HK$’000

–
(837)
–
(837)

(0.30) cent

Effect of adopting
HKAS 32#

Contractual
obligations
HK$’000

HKFRS 3
Discontinuation
of amortisation
of goodwill
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

(15,309)

–

(15,309)

(857)

–

(1,694)

(839)

–

(839)

(17,005)

–

(17,842)

(6.18) cents

–

(6.48) cents
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at
cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:
•

represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes; and

•

is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format
determined in accordance with HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cashgenerating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill (continued)
Goodwill previously eliminated against the consolidated reserves
Prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 “Business combinations” in 2001, goodwill arising on acquisition was eliminated
against the consolidated reserves in the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3, such goodwill remains
eliminated against the consolidated reserves and is not recognised in profit or loss when all or part of the business
to which the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes
impaired.
Excess over the cost of business combinations (applicable to business combinations for which the agreement
date is on or after 1 January 2005)
Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of the acquisition of subsidiaries (previously referred to as negative goodwill), after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Impairment of assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than,
inter alia, inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s or cashgenerating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, however not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation), had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the
use of an item of property, plant and equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:
Leasehold land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment and software
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Motor vehicles

Over the lease terms
2% – 4%
Over the lease terms
20% – 331/3%
18% – 25%
20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance sheet date.
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the expected commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five years, commencing from
the date when the products are put into commercial production.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Applicable to the year ended 31 December 2004:
The Group classified its equity investments, other than subsidiaries, as investment securities.
Investment securities
Investment securities are securities which are intended to be held on a continuing basis, and which are held for an
identified long term purpose documented at the time of acquisition or change of purpose and are clearly
identifiable for the documented purpose. Investment securities are included in the balance sheet at cost less any
impairment losses, on an individual investment basis.
When a decline in the fair value of a security below its carrying amount has occurred, unless there is evidence that
the decline is temporary, the carrying amount of the security is reduced to its fair value, as estimated by the
directors. The amount of the impairment is charged to the income statement for the period in which it arises.
When the circumstances and events which led to the impairment in value cease to exist and there is persuasive
evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future, the amount of the
impairment previously charged is credited to the income statement to the extent of the amount previously
charged.
The gain or loss on disposal of investment securities is accounted for in the period in which the disposal occurs as
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the securities.
Applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005:
Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance
sheet date.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the
Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005: (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses
are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.
Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-tomaturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held
for an undefined period are not included in this classification. Other long term investments that are intended to be
held to maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is computed as the
amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. This
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For investments carried at
amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities
that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other three categories. After initial
recognition, available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses being recognised as a
separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the income
statement.
When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005: (continued)
Fair value
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no
active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets (applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005)
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired.
Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments
carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use
of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is
determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that
group is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005)
(continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or
loss, is transferred from equity to the income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss, if the increase in fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event, occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial assets (applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005)
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•

the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the
form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Trade and other financial liabilities
Trade and other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly
attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in net profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities (applicable to the year ended 31 December
2005)
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of finished goods and work in progress, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Deferred income
Deferred income represents maintenance service income and consultancy service fees received in advance.
Revenue is recognised and deferred income is released to the income statement when the corresponding services
are rendered.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event
and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the
balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it
relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiaries, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:
•

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.
For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:
(a)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b)

from the provision of IT solutions, e-business and related services, on the percentage of completion basis, as
further explained in the accounting policy for “Contracts for services” below;

(c)

maintenance service income and consultancy service fees, on a time proportion basis over the period of the
contract;

(d)

income from providing training courses, when the courses are presented;

(e)

proceeds from the sale of short term investments in listed shares, on the transaction dates when the
relevant contract notes are exchanged;

(f)

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(g)

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(h)

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contracts for services
Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services
comprise labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing the services and attributable overheads.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the transaction,
provided that the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably. The
percentage of completion is established by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs
to be incurred under the transaction, or services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be
performed.
Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by management.
Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract customers.
Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the
surplus is treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the
operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are
initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and, their income statements are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
included in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated to
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated to Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Employee benefits
Paid leave carried forward
The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the balance sheet date is permitted to
be carried forward and utilised by the respective employees in the following year. An accrual is made at the
balance sheet date for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the employees and
carried forward.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of
which are given in note 32. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equitysettled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair
value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options, if any, is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.
The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied
HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested on 1 January 2005
and to those granted on or after 1 January 2005.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Retirement benefits schemes
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to participate in the schemes. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered funds. When an employee leaves the Mandatory Provident
Fund Exempted ORSO retirement benefits scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
contributions. In respect of the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), the
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for
the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central retirement benefits scheme. The contributions
are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
retirement benefits scheme.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(c)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (b);

(d)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (b) or (c); or

(e)

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.
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Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.
Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in
making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.
Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as investment property.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.
Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2005 was HK$23,790,000 (2004: HK$23,790,000). More details are given in note 16.
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4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by
business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.
The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of other business segments. Summary details of the business segments are as follows:
(a)

the integration and solution services segment is engaged in the provision of system and network integration
services, industry-specific IT application implementation services, IT solutions implementation and application
development services;

(b)

the application services segment is engaged in the provision of enterprise applications and IT operation
outsourcing services;

(c)

the distribution segment is engaged in the distribution of digital media products and other computer
accessories; and

(d)

the investments segment is primarily engaged in various types of investing activities including, inter alia,
property investments for rental income and treasury investments in listed securities and held-to-maturity
securities for dividend income and interest income.

The Group presented separate segment information for integration services and solutions services in the prior
year’s financial statements. During the current year, the integration services division has moved increasingly
towards the provision of customised IT solutions by providing software design, implementation and application
development services to businesses, where in the past the focus of integration services was on the sale of finished
networking hardware with minimal system development support and customisation. This trend has aligned the
core underlying business of integration services with solutions services. Accordingly, the directors consider it is
appropriate to combine the “Integration Services” segment and the “Solutions Services” segment to form a single
business segment in the current year.
To conform with the current year’s presentation, the segment assets, liabilities and results of the “Integration
Services” segment and the “Solutions Services” segment as at 31 December 2004 and for the year then ended
have been combined and disclosed under the new “Integration and Solutions Services” segment.
In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments based on the location
of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets.
There were no material intersegment sales and transfers during the current and the prior years.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) Business segments
The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset, liability and expenditure information for
the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004.
Group
Integration and

Application

Solutions Services

Services

2005

2004

2005

Distribution
2004

2005

Investments

2004

2005

Consolidated

2004

2005

2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)
Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Other revenue and gains
Total

135,350 190,630

48,528

30,764

27,680

29,003

1,316

1,403

212,874 251,800

654

912

88

9

1,925

1,936

1,999

2,894

4,666

5,751

136,004

191,542

48,616

30,773

29,605

30,939

3,315

4,297

217,540

257,551

1,599

2,620

4,067

31,710

14,812

(5,703)

(7,233)

(2,807)

(2,319)

Segment results before significant
non-cash expenses

17,199

5,117

12,164

4,029

(273 )

Depreciation

(3,294 )

(4,517)

(1,434 )

(1,645)

(710 )

(2,807 )

(2,319)

–

–

–

–

(3,672)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

847

2,355

3,748

Amortisation of deferred development costs

–

–

Amortisation of goodwill

–

–

Provision for bad and doubtful debts
Segment results
Unallocated interest income and gains
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs
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(2,211 )
11,694

–
600

–
(301 )
7,622

–
(3,607)

(983 )

(752)

(265)

(319)

–
(2,512)

(3,672)
–

20,688

1,588

3,615

1,679

(16,581) (17,333)
(17)

(875)

Profit/(loss) before tax

7,705

(14,941)

Tax

(232)

1,460

Profit/(loss) for the year

7,473 (13,481)
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4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) Business segments (continued)
Group
Integration and
Solutions Services
2005

2004

Application
Services
2005

Distribution
2005

2004

Investments

2004

2005

Consolidated

2004

2005

2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

74,950 227,769

77,096 46,269

13,736

15,936 120,925

67,428 286,707 357,402
92,144 35,669
378,851 393,071

Total assets
23,727 30,642 15,390

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

10,175

6,685

7,920

322

175 46,124 48,912
25,563 40,036
71,687 88,948

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure
Unallocated capital expenditure

2,117

1,493

272

332

2,505

351

–

191

2,721
282

4,540
206

3,003

4,746

(b) Geographical segments
The following table presents revenue and certain asset and expenditure information for the Group’s
geographical segments for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004.
Group
Hong Kong

Mainland China

Others

Consolidated

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

83,283

119,390

112,953

117,573

16,638

14,837

212,874

251,800

Other segment information:
Segment assets

263,626

302,472

107,115

82,649

8,110

7,950

378,851

393,071

972

3,922

1,859

609

172

215

3,003

4,746

Capital expenditure
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the aggregate of the invoiced value of goods sold, net of
trade discounts, returns and business tax, where applicable; income earned from the provision of IT solutions, ebusiness and related services; income earned from the provision of maintenance services, consultancy services
and training courses; gross rental income earned from investment properties; and interest income earned from
treasury investments, after elimination of all significant intra-group transactions.
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

Revenue
Sale of goods:
Computer network and system platform
Computer hardware, software and related accessories

Provision of IT solutions, e-business and related services
Provision of maintenance services, consultancy
services and training courses
Gross rental income from investment properties
Interest income from treasury investments

Other income
Bank interest income
Dividend income from listed investments
Gross sub-lease rental income
Others

Gains
Fair value gains on investment properties (note 15)
Gain on disposal of listed investments
Foreign exchange differences, net

64

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

90,511
27,680

109,433
29,003

118,191

138,436

32,233

78,806

61,134
884
432

33,155
909
494

212,874

251,800

3,331
85
1,141
1,128

1,297
–
1,211
1,874

5,685

4,382

1,523
365
708

1,958
138
952

2,596

3,048

8,281

7,430
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6.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Cost of services provided
Depreciation*
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of deferred development costs*
Amortisation of goodwill**
Minimum lease payments under operating leases
in respect of land and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration
Employee benefits expense (excluding directors’
remuneration – note 7)#:
Wages, salaries and allowances
Equity-settled share option expense##
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(defined contribution schemes)
Less: Forfeited contributions
Net retirement benefits scheme contributions###
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance)
arising on rental-earning investment properties
Changes in fair value of investment properties***
Provision for bad and doubtful debts**
Fair value losses, net:
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

Notes

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

17
16

100,582
30,358
6,131
106
2,807
–

141,467
40,847
8,735
14
2,319
3,672

7,113
1,128

7,419
950

69,342
177

80,125
578

2,732
(462)

4,015
(209)

2,270

3,806

153
(1,523)
2,512

136
(1,958)
–

123

–

*

The amortisation of deferred development costs of HK$2,807,000 (2004: HK$2,319,000) and depreciation of
HK$940,000 (2004: HK$3,624,000) are included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

**

These items are included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

***

This item is included in “Other income and gains” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

#

Inclusive of an amount of HK$30,358,000 (2004: HK$39,935,000) classified under cost of services provided above.

##

During the year ended 31 December 2004, 2,122,000 share options were granted to certain employees in respect of
their services to the Group under the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are included in the
disclosures in note 32 to the financial statements. In addition, an option for the purchase of certain shares of a subsidiary
was granted to an employee (“Subsidiary Option”), further details of which are set out in note 36(a) to the financial
statements. No value in respect of the Subsidiary Option granted and fully vested in the prior year was charged to the
consolidated income statement, or is otherwise included in the above disclosures.

### The amounts of forfeited contributions available to reduce the Group’s contributions to the retirement benefits schemes in
future years were not material as at 31 December 2005 and 2004.
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7.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), is as follows:
Group

Fees:
Executive directors
Independent non-executive directors

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Bonuses paid and payable
Employee share option benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(defined contribution schemes)

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

–
240

–
172

240

172

2,800
424
130

2,820
384
259

36

36

3,390

3,499

3,630

3,671

During the year ended 31 December 2004, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note
32 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been amortised to the consolidated
income statement, was determined as at the date of the grant and was included in the above directors’
remuneration disclosures.
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7.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees and other emoluments paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as
follows:

Fees
HK$’000

Employee
share option
benefits
HK$’000

Total
remuneration
HK$’000

80
80
80

14
14
14

94
94
94

240

42

282

73
73
26

27
27
27

100
100
53

172

81

253

2005
Independent non-executive directors:
Ha Shu Tong
Lee Kwok On, Matthew
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

2004
Independent non-executive directors:
Ha Shu Tong
Lee Kwok On, Matthew
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

Save as disclosed above, there were no emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2004: Nil).
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7.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors
The fees and other emoluments paid to executive directors during the year were as follows:
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
HK$’000

Retirement
benefits
scheme
Total
contributions remuneration
HK$’000
HK$’000

Performance
related
bonuses
HK$’000

Employee
share option
benefits
HK$’000

1,392
948
460

291
54
79

41
27
20

12
12
12

1,736
1,041
571

2,800

424

88

36

3,348

1,392
948
480

194
76
114

82
55
41

12
12
12

1,680
1,091
647

2,820

384

178

36

3,418

2005
Executive directors:
Ng Cheung Shing
Leung King San, Sunny
Ma Mok Hoi

2004
Executive directors:
Ng Cheung Shing
Leung King San, Sunny
Ma Mok Hoi

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2004: Nil).
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8.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year included one director (2004: two directors), details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 7 to the financial statements. Details of the remuneration of the
remaining four (2004: three) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:
Group

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Bonuses paid and payable
Employee share option benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

4,754
367
102
64

3,594
484
219
36

5,287

4,333

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

2005

2004

–
4
–

1
1
1

4

3

During the year ended 31 December 2004, share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid
employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note
32 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been charged to the consolidated income
statement, was determined as at the date of the grant and was included in the above non-director, highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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9.

FINANCE COSTS
Group

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within five years

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

17

875

10. TAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2004: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.
2005
HK$’000
Group:
Current – Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Overprovision in prior years
Current – Elsewhere
Charge for the year
Overprovision in prior years
Deferred (note 30)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year
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2004
HK$’000

250
(1)

90
(52)

933
–
(950)

251
(1,749)
–

232

(1,460)
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10. TAX (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax using the statutory profits tax rate
in Hong Kong where the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are operating/domiciled to the tax charge/
(credit) at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the Hong Kong statutory tax rate) to
the Group’s effective tax rate, are as follows:

Group
2005
HK$’000

Profit (loss) before tax
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory profits tax rate
Higher tax rates for overseas subsidiaries
Adjustments in respect of current tax of prior years
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses utilised from previous periods
Tax losses for the year not recognised
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective
tax rate

%

7,705
1,348
1,104
(1)
(3,395)
3,215
(4,256)
2,217

232

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

%

(14,941)
17.5
14.3
–
(44.1)
41.7
(55.2)
28.8

(2,615)
1,744
(1,801)
(929)
1,347
(3,696)
4,490

(17.5)
11.7
(12.1)
(6.2)
9.0
(24.7)
30.0

3.0

(1,460)

(9.8)

Under the income tax laws of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), enterprises are subject to corporate
income tax (“CIT”) generally at a rate of 33% (2004: 33%). However, certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
operating in specific development zones of the PRC and the relevant tax authorities have granted those
subsidiaries a preferential CIT rate of 15% (2004: 15%).
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11. NET PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The net profit/(loss) from ordinary activities attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31
December 2005 dealt with in the financial statements of the Company, was HK$19,152,000 (2004 (restated): net
loss of HK$975,000) (note 33(b)).

12. DIVIDENDS

Proposed final – HK$0.01 (2004: Nil) per ordinary share
Proposed special – HK$0.02 (2004: Nil) per ordinary share

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2,695
5,390

–
–

8,085

–

The proposed final and special dividends for the year are subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the net profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent of HK$8,011,000 (2004 (restated): net loss of HK$13,520,000), and
the weighted average number of 273,933,000 (2004: 275,173,000) ordinary shares of the Company in
issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
A diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2005 has not been disclosed as the exercise
prices of the Company’s outstanding share options are higher than the average market price of the
Company’s ordinary shares during the year and accordingly, the share options have no dilutive effect.
No diluted loss per share is presented for the year ended 31 December 2004 as the effect of the
Company’s outstanding share options was anti-dilutive.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group
Computer Furniture,
Leasehold Leasehold equipment
fixtures
land and improveand and other
buildings
ments
software equipment
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 December 2005
At 31 December 2004 and
at 1 January 2005:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2005, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation provided
during the year
Exchange realignment

7,158
(284)

7,034
(5,881)

36,314
(25,795)

6,178
(4,781)

1,286
(380)

57,970
(37,121)

6,874

1,153

10,519

1,397

906

20,849

6,874
–
–

1,153
218
(38)

10,519
1,056
(15)

1,397
329
(53)

906
–
–

20,849
1,603
(106)

(517)
6

(4,504)
20

(658)
(1)

(226)
9

(6,131)
34

822

7,076

1,014

689

16,249

34,599
(27,523)

5,835
(4,821)

1,300
(611)

55,965
(39,716)

7,076

1,014

689

16,249

(226)
–

At 31 December 2005,
net of accumulated
depreciation

6,648

At 31 December 2005:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

7,158
(510)

Net carrying amount

6,648

7,073
(6,251)
822
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Group

Leasehold
land and
buildings
HK$’000

Leasehold
improvements
HK$’000

Computer
equipment
and
software
HK$’000

Furniture,
fixtures
and other
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000
(Restated)

31 December 2004
At 1 January 2004:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2004, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation provided
during the year
Exchange realignment

7,012
(4,822)

33,509
(19,959)

5,838
(3,737)

1,524
(341)

54,877
(28,873)

6,980

2,190

13,550

2,101

1,183

26,004

6,980
164
–

2,190
143
(18)

13,550
2,987
(18)

2,101
352
(26)

1,183
286
(321)

26,004
3,932
(383)

(1,176)
14

(6,003)
3

(1,042)
12

(244)
2

(8,735)
31

(270)
–

At 31 December 2004, net of
accumulated depreciation

6,874

1,153

10,519

1,397

906

20,849

At 31 December 2004:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

7,158
(284)

7,034
(5,881)

36,314
(25,795)

6,178
(4,781)

1,286
(380)

57,970
(37,121)

6,874

1,153

10,519

1,397

906

20,849

Net carrying amount
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are held under the following lease terms:
2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

Hong Kong:
Medium term leases

465

481

Mainland China:
Medium term leases
Long term leases

5,050
1,133

5,227
1,166

6,183

6,393

6,648

6,874

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January
Net profit from a fair value adjustment

16,297
1,523

14,339
1,958

Carrying amount at 31 December

17,820

16,297

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Group
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
The Group’s investment properties are held under the following lease terms:

Hong Kong:
Medium term leases
Long term leases

Mainland China:
Medium term leases
Long term leases

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

1,022
11,000

852
10,000

12,022

10,852

1,650
4,148

1,600
3,845

5,798

5,445

17,820

16,297

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2005 by Landscope Surveyors Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$17,820,000 on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 34(a) to the financial statements.
At 31 December 2005, certain of the Group’s investment properties situated in Hong Kong, with an aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$11,000,000 (2004: HK$10,000,000), were pledged to secure certain bank
guarantees/performance bonds facilities granted to the Group.
Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on page 103.
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16. GOODWILL
Group
HK$’000
31 December 2005
At 1 January 2005:
Cost as previously reported
Effect of adopting HKFRS 3 (note 2.2(d))
Cost as restated
Accumulated amortisation as previously reported
Effect of adopting HKFRS 3 (note 2.2(d))
Accumulated amortisation as restated
Net carrying amount
Cost and carrying amount at 31 December 2005

36,089
(12,299)
23,790
(12,299)
12,299
–
23,790
23,790

31 December 2004
At 1 January 2004:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

36,089
(8,627)
27,462

Cost at 1 January 2004, net of accumulated amortisation
Amortisation provided during the year

27,462
(3,672)

At 31 December 2004

23,790

At 31 December 2004:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

36,089
(12,299)
23,790

In 2004, goodwill not previously eliminated against the consolidated reserves was amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimate useful life of five to ten years.
As further detailed in note 2.2(d) to the financial statements, the Group applied the transitional provisions of
HKFRS 3 that permitted goodwill in respect of business combinations which occurred prior to 2001, to remain
eliminated against the consolidated reserves.
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16. GOODWILL (continued)
The amounts of the goodwill remaining in the consolidated reserves as at 1 January 2005, arising from the
acquisition of subsidiaries prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 in 2001, are as follows:

Group
Goodwill
eliminated against
consolidated
reserves
HK$’000
31 December 2005
At 1 January 2005
Cost as previously reported
Accumulated impairment as previously reported
Net carrying amount at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005

11,117
(3,890)
7,227

31 December 2004
Cost as at 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004

11,117

At 31 December 2004:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

11,117
(3,890)

Net carrying amount

7,227

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the application services cash-generating
unit, which is a reportable segment, for impairment testing.
Application services cash-generating unit
The recoverable amount of the application services cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 5% and cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 6% which is the same as the long term average growth rate of the
application services industry.
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16. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the application services cash-generating unit for 31
December 2005. The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:
Budgeted sales revenue – The basis used to determine the values assigned to the budgeted sales revenue is the
sales revenue achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted year, increased for expected growth in market
demand and customer base.
Discount rate – The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the application services
cash-generating unit.

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group
Deferred
development
costs
HK$’000
31 December 2005:
Cost at 1 January 2005, net of accumulated amortisation
Additions – internal development
Amortisation provided during the year
At 31 December 2005
At 31 December 2005:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

9,275
1,400
(2,807)
7,868

12,994
(5,126)
7,868
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Group
Deferred
development
costs
HK$’000
31 December 2004
At 1 January 2004:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

10,780
–

Net carrying amount

10,780

Cost at 1 January 2004, net of accumulated amortisation
Additions – internal development
Amortisation provided during the year

10,780
814
(2,319)

At 31 December 2004

9,275

At 31 December 2004 and at 1 January 2005:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

11,594
(2,319)

Net carrying amount

9,275

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)

Unlisted shares/investments, at cost
Due from subsidiaries

45,633
368,123

45,633
353,704

Impairment

413,756
(91,643)

399,337
(91,643)

322,113

307,694

The balances with the subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are not repayable within one year from the
balance sheet date. The carrying amounts of these amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to their fair
values.
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered capital*

Percentage of
equity
attributable to
the Company
2005

2004

Principal activities

Apex Result Trading
Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

100

100

Property holding

Computer And Technologies
(BVI) Limited

British Virgin
Islands

Ordinary
US$1,000

100

100

Investment
holding

Computer And Technologies
International Limited

Hong Kong

100

100

Provision of
IT services
and investment
holding

Computer And Technologies
Integration Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

100

100

Provision of
system and network
integration services

Computer & Technologies
International Trading
(Shanghai) Company
Limited#

PRC/
Mainland
China

US$200,000

100

100

Trading of
computer hardware
and software

Computer & Technologies
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.##

PRC/
Mainland
China

US$3,500,000

100

100

Provision of systems
and network
integration services

Computer & Technologies
Investment Limited

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

Ordinary
US$1

100

100

Investment holding
and treasury
investments

C&T (Guangzhou)
Investment Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

100

100

Property holding

C&T (Hong Kong)
Investment Limited

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

Ordinary
US$1

100

100

Property holding

Ordinary
HK$2
Non-voting deferred **
HK$5,000,000
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Name

82

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered capital*

Percentage of
equity
attributable to
the Company
2005

2004

Principal activities

C&T (Nanjing) Investment
Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

100

100

Property holding

C&T (Shanghai) Investment
Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

100

100

Property holding

Computer And
Technologies Solutions
Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$10,000

100

100

Provision of IT
solutions and
implementation
services

Computer & Technologies
Solutions (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.##

PRC/
Mainland
China

US$1,128,000

100

100

Provision of
IT solutions and
implementation
services

Global e-Business
Services (BVI) Limited
(“GEBS-BVI”)

British Virgin
Islands

Global e-Business
Services Limited^

Hong Kong

Global e-Trading
Services Limited^

Hong Kong

e-tendering.com
Limited^

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

80 ***

80 *** Investment
holding

Ordinary
HK$1,010,000

80 ***

80 *** Provision of
enterprise
application
services

Ordinary
HK$2,501,000

80 ***

80 *** Provision of
government
electronic trading
services

Ordinary
US$1
services

80 ***

80 *** Provision of
e-tendering

Class A ***
US$1,600
Class B ***
US$400
(note 29)

COMPUTER AND TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2005

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2005

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered capital*

Percentage of
equity
attributable to
the Company
2005

ets.com.hk Limited^

Hong Kong

IPL Research Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

Ordinary
HK$100
Non-voting deferred **
HK$300,000

80 ***

100

Principal activities

2004
80 *** Provision of
e-tendering
services for
HKSAR
Government
100
.

Provision of
human resources
management system
and related services

Ordinary
HK$2,500,000

75

75

Distribution of
digital media
products

Ordinary
NT$10,000,000

52.5

52.5

Distribution of
digital media
products

Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$2

100

100

Property holding

PRC/
Mainland
China

Ordinary
US$140,000

100

100

Provision of
human resources
management
system and related
services

Maxfair Technology
Limited

Hong Kong

Maxfair Technology
(Taiwan) Company
Limited

Taiwan

Modern Lucky Investments
Limited
上 海 商 絡 軟 件 有 限 公 司 ##
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
*

Registered capital applies only to companies established in the PRC.

**

The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to
attend or vote at any general meeting. In the winding-up of the subsidiaries, the holders of the deferred shares carry the
right to receive a return of capital after the holders of the ordinary shares have received a sum of HK$1,000,000,000 per
ordinary share.

***

In connection with the Subscription as further detailed in note 29, a shareholder’s resolution was passed approving the
classification of the share capital of GEBS-BVI into ordinary shares of US$0.01 each designated as Class A shares, which
are held by the Group, and Class B shares, which were issued and allotted to an investor upon completion of the
Subscription. The Class B shares rank pari passu in all material respects with the Class A shares except that each holder of
the Class B shares shall at any general meeting of GEBS-BVI have one-tenth of a vote for every Class B share. Accordingly,
after the completion of the Subscription, the Group had 98% voting rights in the general meetings of GEBS-BVI and the
Investor had only 2%. Each Class B share shall automatically be converted into one Class A share upon an initial public
offering of the shares of GEBS-BVI. After such conversion, the investor’s voting rights in the general meetings of GEBS-BVI
will increase to 20%.
Notwithstanding the Group received HK$23.4 million (the “Subscription Proceeds”) for the issuance and allotment of
40,000 Class B shares of GEBS-BVI (the “Subscription Shares”) to the investor, representing 20% of the issued share
capital of GEBS-BVI as enlarged by the Subscription, the investor could under certain circumstances, as further detailed in
note 29 of the financial statements, either exchange the Subscription Shares for certain number of the Company’s own
shares or for an amount of cash equal to the Subscription Proceeds at the discretion of the Company. Such contractual
obligations to the investor have been accounted for as a financial liability instead of as a minority interest in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with HKAS 32, as further detailed in note 29 to the financial statements,
and accordingly, the Group has reflected a 100% share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of GEBS-BVI and its
subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements, and the Subscription Proceeds are reflected as “Other financial
liabilities” on the face of the consolidated balance sheet.

^

Subsidiaries of GEBS-BVI.

#

The subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture under the PRC law.

##

The subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law.

Note: Except for Computer And Technologies (BVI) Limited, all of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group or of particular importance to the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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19. HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES
Group

At amortised cost:
Unlisted debt securities
Portion classified as current assets
Non-current portion

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

5,165

1,265

(3,900)

–

1,265

1,265

The Group’s unlisted debt securities were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT/INVESTMENT SECURITY
Group

Club membership debenture:
At cost
At fair value

Provision for impairment

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

–
750

1,460
–

750

1,460

–
750

(460)
1,000

At 1 January 2005, the gross loss of the Group’s available-for-sale investment recognised directly in equity
amounted to HK$250,000, resulting in a restatement of the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve at
that date. The fair value of the investment is based on quoted market prices.
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21. INVENTORIES
Group

Work in progress
Finished goods

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

16,246
4,385

4,438
7,418

20,631

11,856

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the balance sheet date, based on the payment due date and net of
provisions, is as follows:
Group

Current
Overdue 1 to 3 months
Overdue 4 to 6 months
Overdue more than 6 months

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

9,972
7,967
1,622
1,831

45,613
8,595
1,756
958

21,392

56,922

Credit terms
For system integration projects and the provision of maintenance services and software development services, the
Group’s trading terms with its customers vary from contract to contract and may include cash on delivery, advance
payment and on credit. For those customers who trade on credit, the credit period is generally for a period of 90 to
120 days, except for certain well established or major customers, where the terms may extend beyond 120 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.
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23. CONTRACTS FOR SERVICES
Group
2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

Gross amount due from contract customers

68,865

123,826

Gross amount due to contract customers included in other payables

(2,150)

Contract costs incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses to date
Less: Progress billings

(486)

66,715

123,340

321,759

257,591

(255,044)

(134,251)

66,715

123,340

24. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Group

Listed equity investments, at market value:
Hong Kong

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

5,008

–

The above equity investments at 31 December 2005 were held for short term investment purposes.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
Group

Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

Less: Pledged for performance
bonds/guarantees
issued by banks
Pledged for bank loans
(note 28)
Cash and cash equivalents

Company

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

28,993
150,807

65,707
56,179

345
1,005

1,203
–

179,800

121,886

1,350

1,203

(8,099)

–

–

(15,737)

–

–

1,350

1,203

(8,012)
–
171,788

98,050

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to approximately HK$24,524,000 (2004: HK$33,690,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The carrying amounts of the cash and
cash equivalents and the pledged deposits approximate to their fair values.

26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
Group

Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals
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Company

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

22,182
12,066
5,568

29,108
6,819
7,453

–
10
20

–
10
–

39,816

43,380

30

10
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
Group
2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

16,220
1,913
2,729
1,320

25,197
2,405
1,506
–

22,182

29,108

Current
1 to 3 months
4 to 6 months
Over 6 months

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Included in the balance is an amount of HK$2,024,000 (2004: HK$2,024,000) due to a director of the Company.
The amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

Bank loans – secured

Effective
floating
interest
rate (%)

Maturity

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

HIBOR + 1.5

18 January 2005

–

15,000

Group

As at 31 December 2004, the Group’s loan facilities amounting to HK$46,800,000, of which HK$15,000,000 had
been utilised, were secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to HK$15,737,000.
The bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and were repaid during the year.
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29. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
On 9 June 2004, Computer And Technologies International Limited (“CTIL”), Computer And Technologies eServices (BVI) Limited (“CTES”) and GEBS-BVI, indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with an independent third party (the “Investor”) for the
subscription (the “Subscription”) by the Investor of 40,000 Class B shares of GEBS-BVI (the “Subscription Shares”),
representing 20% of the issued share capital of GEBS-BVI as enlarged by the Subscription and approximately 2%
of the voting rights in the general meetings of GEBS-BVI, for a cash consideration of HK$23,400,000 (the
“Subscription Proceeds”). On 18 June 2004, the Company, CTIL, CTES, GEBS-BVI and the Investor entered into a
shareholders’ agreement to provide for their rights and obligations in respect of GEBS-BVI (the “Shareholders’
Agreement”). The Investor had fully settled the Subscription consideration in June 2004.
Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, GEBS-BVI has granted to the Investor an option (the “Adjustment
Option”), exercisable in the event that the audited consolidated after-tax net profit of GEBS-BVI for the year ending
31 December 2006 does not meet an agreed threshold of approximately HK$10.5 million, to require GEBS-BVI to:
(i)

issue at par an additional number of Class B shares of GEBS-BVI to the Investor. The number of such
additional Class B shares will be determined in accordance with an agreed formula by reference to the
subscription price for the Subscription and a multiple of the then consolidated net profit of GEBS-BVI, subject
to a maximum number such that the Investor will not have more than 49.9% interest in the then enlarged
issued share capital of GEBS-BVI, and GEBS-BVI will remain as a subsidiary of the Company; or

(ii)

pay to the Investor an amount in cash to be calculated by reference to the then consolidated net profit of
GEBS-BVI, subject to a maximum amount of approximately HK$14 million. CTIL has guaranteed to the
Investor the performance of the relevant payment obligations of GEBS-BVI.

GEBS-BVI has the right to elect whether it will allot additional Class B Shares as set out in (i) above or make
payment to the Investor as set out in (ii) above.
Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, in the event that:
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(a)

GEBS-BVI has not effected an initial public offering of its shares before 30 April 2007 and the audited
consolidated after-tax net profit of GEBS-BVI for the year ending 31 December 2006 does not meet an
agreed threshold of approximately HK$10.5 million;

(b)

GEBS-BVI has not effected an initial public offering of its shares before 31 December 2008;

(c)

GEBS-BVI has obtained firm and positive advice from not less than two reputable investment banks in
respect of an initial public offering but does not proceed with the offering; or

(d)

GEBS-BVI or any of its subsidiaries is being liquidated,
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29. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
the Investor may require the Company to effectively, at the discretion of the Company, either (i) exchange the
Subscription Shares into the Company’s shares, based on the average market price of the Company’s shares for
the 30 trading days before the Investor exercises its right, or (ii) pay the Investor an amount in cash, or a
combination of both (i) and (ii), in respect of (a), (b) and (d) above, equal to the Subscription Proceeds and, in
respect of (c), an amount (calculated based on the then valuation of GEBS-BVI to be performed by independent
investment banks to be appointed by GEBS-BVI) subject to a maximum amount of HK$93 million (the “Exchange
Options”).
Further details of the Subscription, the Subscription Agreement, the Shareholders’ Agreement and the
Exchangeable Rights are also set out in a circular of the Company dated 30 June 2004.
In the prior year, the aforesaid contractual obligations as created by the Adjustment Option and the Exchange
Options (the “Contractual Obligations”) were not recognised as a liability. The issuance and allotment of the
40,000 Class B shares of GEBS-BVI to the Investor resulted in a gain on deemed disposal of GEBS-BVI of
approximately HK$15,309,000 (net of incidental costs of deemed disposal of HK$857,000), which was credited to
the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2004.
Upon the adoption of HKAS 32, the Contractual Obligations are considered as financial liabilities of the Group as
these options require the Group to deliver cash or another financial asset, to the extent of HK$23,400,000 (i.e. the
Subscription Proceeds), in the occurrence or non-occurrence of certain triggering events that are beyond the
control of the Group to exchange the 20% equity interest of GEBS-BVI back from the Investor. Accordingly, due to
the existence of the contingent settlement provisions attached to the arrangement, the Subscription Proceeds
received from the Investor is classified as “Other financial liabilities” as at 31 December 2004 and 2005.
In accordance with HKAS 32, the standard shall be applied retrospectively and the comparative amounts have to
be restated (note 2.4).
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30. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows:

Group
Losses available
for offset against
future taxable profit
2005
HK$000

2004
HK$’000

At 1 January
Deferred tax credited to the income statement during the year (note 10)

1,050
950

1,050
–

At 31 December

2,000

1,050

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unutilised tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$61,948,000 (2004:
HK$67,860,000) and nil arising in Mainland China (2004: HK$4,024,000). The tax losses arising in Hong Kong are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose, whilst
those arising in Mainland China were available for a maximum period of five years. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time or due to the unpredictability of future income streams of those subsidiaries.
At 31 December 2005, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2004: Nil) for taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, as the Group had no liability to
additional tax should such amounts be remitted.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

31. SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

Authorised:
1,000,000,000 (2004: 1,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
Issued and fully paid:
269,502,198 (2004: 275,198,198)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
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2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

100,000

100,000

26,950

27,520
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital and share premium account is as
follows:
Number
of shares
in issue

Issued
share
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

(a)

274,847,698
350,500

27,485
35

237,077
233

264,562
268

(b)

275,198,198
(5,696,000)

27,520
(570)

237,310
–

264,830
( 570)

269,502,198

26,950

237,310

264,260

Ordinary shares
Notes
At 1 January 2004
Share options exercised
At 31 December 2004 and
1 January 2005
Repurchase of shares
At 31 December 2005

Notes:
(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2004, the subscription rights attaching to 350,500 share options were exercised at
the subscription price of HK$0.635 to HK$1.563 per share (note 32), resulting in the issue of 350,500 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$268,000.

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2005, the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as follows:

Month/year

September 2005
October 2005
November 2005

Number

Highest

Lowest

of shares
repurchased

price paid
per share
HK$

price paid
per share
HK$

Aggregate
price paid
HK$’000

802,000
4,762,000
132,000

0.83
0.85
0.80

0.79
0.80
0.80

651
3,947
106

5,696,000

4,704

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of HK$4,134,000 was charged to
contributed surplus.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are included in
note 32 to the financial statements.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company operates two share option schemes for the primary purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The share option schemes entitle the
holders of share options granted under the schemes to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company at any time
during the exercisable periods of the options. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

(a) Share option scheme adopted in 1998
On 29 April 1998, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “1998 Scheme”). Eligible participants
of the 1998 Scheme are the Group’s employees, including the Company’s executive directors. The 1998
Scheme became effective on 29 April 1998 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.
The maximum number of shares issuable under unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted
under the 1998 Scheme may not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the time of
granting the option, without taking into account any shares issued and allotted pursuant to exercise of
options granted under the 1998 Scheme. The maximum number of share issuable under share options
granted to any eligible individual participant in the 1998 Scheme shall not exceed 25% of the issuable
shares under the 1998 Scheme.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$10 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on
a date which is not later than six years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
1998 Scheme, whichever is earlier.
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher
of (i) 80% of the average closing price of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (ii)
the nominal value of the shares.
The Company has not adopted the amendments made by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules on Share Option
Schemes (“Chapter 17 Amendments”), which came into effect on 1 September 2001, for the 1998
Scheme. Accordingly, the Group has not granted any options under the 1998 Scheme since 1 September
2001. The share options which had been granted under the 1998 Scheme but remain unexercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue and the rules of the 1998
Scheme.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(b) Share option scheme adopted in 2002
To comply with the Chapter 17 Amendments, the Company adopted a new share option scheme in 2002
(the “2002 Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2002 Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the
Group, customers of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any minority shareholder in the
Company’s subsidiaries. The 2002 Scheme became effective on 30 May 2002 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the 2002
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the 2002
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on
a date which is not later than ten years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
2002 Scheme, whichever is earlier.
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher
of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the 1998 Scheme and 2002 Scheme (collectively
referred to as the “Schemes”) during the year:
Price of Company’s shares***
Number of share options
Name or
category of
participant

At
1 January
2005

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Expired
during
the year

Forfeited
At
during 31 December
the year
2005

300,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
100,000
100,000

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

300,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
100,000
100,000

950,000

–

–

–

–

950,000

2,122,000

–

–

–

148,000

–

–

–

2,653,000

–

–

–

(2,357,000 )

4,923,000

–

–

–

(2,629,000 ) 2,294,000

5,873,000

–

–

–

(2,629,000 ) 3,244,000

Exercise
price

At
exercise Immediately

At
grant

date of before the
options exercise date
HK$
HK$

date of
options*
HK$

Date of grant
of share options*

Exercise period of
share options

of share
options**
HK$

31.08.2004
31.08.2004
31.08.2004
31.08.2004
31.08.2004
31.08.2004

01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009
01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009
01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009
01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009
01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009
01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009

1.128
1.128
1.128
1.128
1.128
1.128

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

1.09
1.09
1.09
1.09
1.09
1.09

31.08.2004

01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009

1.128

N/A

N/A

1.09

148,000

31.08.2001

06.09.2002 to 05.09.2006

1.563

N/A

N/A

1.88

296,000

16.01.2001

23.01.2002 to 22.01.2006

2.672

N/A

N/A

3.50

Directors
Ng Cheung Shing
Leung King San, Sunny
Ma Mok Hoi
Ha Shu Tong
Lee Kwok On, Matthew
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

Other employees
In aggregate

Total

(272,000 ) 1,850,000
–

Notes to the reconciliation of share options outstanding during the year:
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*

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant until the commencement of the exercise
period.

**

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

***

The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the grant of the share options is the Stock Exchange
closing price on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the grant of the options. The price of the
Company’s shares disclosed immediately before the exercise date of the share options is the weighted average of
the Stock Exchange closing prices immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised over all of the
exercises of options within the disclosure line.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
No share options had been granted under the Schemes during the year. The fair value of the share options
granted under the 2002 Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2004 was HK$1,256,000.
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year ended 31 December 2004 was
estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 31
December 2004:
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Historical volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of options (years)
Weighted average share price (HK$)

–
36.54
36.54
4.13
5
1.10

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past year and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
The 350,500 share options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2004 resulted in the issue of
350,500 ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of approximately HK$35,000 and share
premium of approximately HK$233,000 (before issue expenses), as further detailed in note 31 to the
financial statements.
At the balance sheet date, the Company had 3,244,000 share options outstanding under the Schemes. The
exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 3,244,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
approximately HK$324,000 and share premium of approximately HK$3,856,000 (before issue expenses).
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 22 January 2006, a total of 296,000 share options expired. At the
date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 2,948,000 share options outstanding
under the Schemes, which represented approximately 1.09% of the Company’s shares in issue at that date.
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33. RESERVES
(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 29 and 30 of the financial
statements.
The Group’s contributed surplus originally represented the excess of the aggregate net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired at the date of their acquisition pursuant to a Group reorganisation on 29 April 1998,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
The group’s goodwill reserve represents goodwill which arose on the acquisition of certain subsidiaries in
prior years and remains eliminated against the consolidated reserves, as explained in note 16 to the financial
statements.

(b) Company

At 1 January 2004
Issue of shares
Equity-settled share
option arrangement
Loss for the year
At 31 December 2004 and
1 January 2005
Equity-settled share
option arrangement
Repurchase of shares
Profit for the year
Proposal final and special
dividends
At 31 December 2005

(Accumulated
losses)/
retained
profits
HK$’000
(Restated)

Notes

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Contributed
surplus
HK$’000

Share
option
reserve
HK$’000
(Restated)

31

237,077
233

45,483
–

–
–

(1,215)
–

–
–

–
–

837
–

–
(975)

237,310

45,483

837

(2,190)

–
(4,134)
–

307
–
–

–
–
19,152

307
(4,134)
19,152

(8,085)

(8,085)

31

–
–
–

12

–

–

–

237,310

41,349

1,144

8,877

Total
HK$’000
(Restated)
281,345
233
837
(975)

281,440

288,680

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries
acquired at the date of their acquisition pursuant to a Group reorganisation on 29 April 1998, over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus in certain circumstances.
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(a) As lessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years. The terms of the leases generally also require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions.
At 31 December 2005, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:
Group

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

1,474
153

2,161
2,142

1,627

4,303

(b) As lessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging from one to six years.
At 31 December 2005, the Group and the Company had total future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases falling due as follows:
Group

Within one year
In the second to
fifth years, inclusive

Company

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

4,653

6,149

1,004

4,639

1,270

1,716

–

1,317

5,923

7,865

1,004

5,956
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:
(a)

As at 31 December 2005, guarantees given to certain banks by the Company for performance bonds/
guarantees issued by the banks in relation to service contracts undertaken by the Group amounting to
HK$43,036,000 (2004: HK$58,320,000) of which HK$10,132,000 (2004: HK$21,789,000) had been
utilised.

(b)

The Company issued corporate guarantees to certain suppliers of the Group in connection with certain
purchases from those suppliers. As at 31 December 2005, the outstanding amount due to those suppliers
by the Group amounted to HK$860,000 (2004: HK$5,112,000).

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the year:
(a)

On 24 August 2004, CTIL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with Yan
King Shun (“Mr. Yan”), a director of Global e-Business Services Limited (“Global e-Business”), an indirect
80%-owned subsidiary, whereby Mr. Yan acquired 625 share options (“Option Shares”) of CTES, a whollyowned subsidiary of the Group, for a consideration of HK$351,000. The Option Shares are exercisable in
whole at a total exercise price of HK$3,159,000 at any time from 24 August 2004 to the earliest of (i) 30
June 2009; (ii) the date on which Mr. Yan ceases to be an employee of Global e-Business; and (iii) 30 days
after the date on which Global e-Business or its immediate holding company has made an application to an
internationally recognised stock exchange for the listing of its shares. Details of the transaction were also set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 24 August 2004 and annual report for the year ended 31
December 2004.

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

8,344
100
150

7,282
72
300

Total compensation paid to key management personnel

8,594

7,654

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 7 to the financial statements.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments include bank loans, cash and short term deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, foreign currency risk
and credit risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Company’s cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currency. Approximately 6% (2004: 10%) of the Group’s sales are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating units making the sale, whilst almost
40% (2004: 41%) of costs are denominated in the units’ functional currency.

Credit risk
The Group mainly trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to unidentified bad debts is not significant.
For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group does
not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the senior management of the relevant operating unit.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which include cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale
financial assets, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of
these instruments.
Since the Group mainly trades only with recognised and/or creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral.
At the balance sheet date, 40.2% of the total trade receivables of the Group were due from certain departments/
units of the Government of the HKSAR. Save as the above, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk at
the balance sheet date.
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38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As at the balance sheet date, the fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are not materially
different from their carrying amounts.

39. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
As further explained in notes 2.2 and 2.4 to the financial statements, due to the adoption of new and revised
HKFRSs during the current year, the accounting treatment and presentation of certain items and balances in the
financial statements have been revised to comply with the new requirements. In addition, as further detailed in
note 4 to the financial statements, the presentation of certain segment information has been revised. Accordingly,
certain prior year and opening balance adjustments have been made and certain comparative amounts have been
restated and reclassified/regrouped to conform with the current year’s presentation and accounting treatment.

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 April 2006.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

Attributable
interest of
the Group

Use

Tenure

Industrial

Long term
lease

100%

1.

Units 1, 2 and 3 on 11th Floor
Westlands Centre
No. 20 Westlands Road
Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

2.

Unit No. E on Level 12 and
Car Parking Space No. 44
Jinming Building
No. 8 Zunyi South Road
Changning District
Shanghai
The People’s Republic of China (PRC)

Commercial

Long term
lease

100%

3.

Unit Nos. A1 on Level 21
Golden Eagle International Plaza
No. 89 Hanzhong Road
Jianye District
Nanjing
Jiangsu Province
PRC

Commercial

Long term
lease

100%

4.

Unit No. 2601 on Level 26
South Tower
Guangzhou World Trade Centre Complex
Nos. 371-375 Huanshi East Road
Dongshan District
Guangzhou
Guangdong Province
PRC

Commercial

Medium
term
lease

100%

5.

Factory Unit C on 9th floor
Yally Industrial Building
No. 6 Yip Fat Street
Wong Chuk Hang
Hong Kong

Industrial

Medium
term
lease

100%
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS
Year ended 31 December
2005
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000
(Restated)*

2003
HK$’000

2002
HK$’000

2001
HK$’000

212,874

251,800

362,136

230,357

518,086

Cost of sales

(133,988)

(188,257)

(286,076)

(176,591)

(434,198)

Gross profit

78,886

63,543

76,060

53,766

83,888

8,281
(36,229)
(40,747)
(2,469)
(17)

7,430
(40,724)
(40,644)
(3,671)
(875)

7,766
(39,992)
(35,926)
(1,879)
(359)

9,340
(43,474)
(44,341)
(14,321)
–

9,384
(66,845)
(48,210)
(38,392)
(352)

REVENUE

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Finance costs
Share of losses of:
Jointly-controlled entity
Associate

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(2,344)
(26)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
Tax

7,705
(232)

(14,941)
1,460

5,670
663

(39,030)
(386)

(62,897)
(953)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

7,473

(13,481)

6,333

(39,416)

(63,850)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

8,011
(538)

(13,520)
39

6,066
267

(39,623)
207

(64,162)
312

7,473

(13,481)

6,333

(39,416)

(63,850)

2002
HK$’000

2001
HK$’000

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND MINORITY INTERESTS
2005
HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS

378,851

393,071

434,141

372,481

400,943

TOTAL LIABILITIES

(71,687)

(88,948)

(117,586)

(61,945)

(56,369)

(1,070)

(1,609)

(1,542)

(1,349)

(1,352)

MINORITY INTERESTS

306,094
*
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As at 31 December
2004
2003
HK$’000
HK$’000
(Restated)*

302,514

315,013

309,187

343,222

Details of the restatement of certain comparative amounts are set out in notes 2.2 and 2.4 to the financial statements.

